WHITE’S HISTORY, GAZETTEER AND DIRECTORY OF STAFFORDSHIRE, 1851

ALTON, or ALVETON, is a large and well-built village, picturesquely situated on the south-western side of the river and the Churnet Valley Railway, on which it has a handsome station in the Italian style, 4 miles E. of Cheadle, and 7 miles N.N.W. of Uttoxeter. Its parish is in Cheadle Union, and contains 2390 inhabitants, and about 7000 acres of land, divided into four townships, of which the following are the names and contents:-  Alton, 2251½ acres and 1168 souls; Cotton, 1270 acres and 519 souls; Denstone, 1690 acres and 231 souls; and Farley, 2221½ acres and 472 souls.  On the opposite side of the valley, in Farley township, is Alton Towers, the princely seat of the Earl of Shrewsbury, the lord of the manor and constablewick of Alton, which includes all this parish, and also Sheen, Wootton, Kingsley, Ipstones, Rudyard, Cawdry, Bradley, Stramshall, and Stanton; the inhabitants of which anciently performed castle-guard at Alton, where the lords had formerly the power of trying and executing criminals, on the spot called Gallows hill.  The Earl pays a yearly fee farm rent for the manor and constablewick of 20s. 0½d. to Earl Somers.  There are still some remains of the ancient baronial CASTLE, which, in the reign of Henry II., belonged to Bertram de Verdon, from whom it devolved, with other estates, to the Furnivals; afterwards to the Nevills; and from them to the Talbots, Earls of Shrewsbury, one of whom was created Marquis of Alton and Duke of Shrewsbury, but these titles became extinct on his death, in 1718.  The present Right Hon. John Talbot is the 16th Earl of Shrewsbury, and Earl of Waterford and Wexford, in Ireland.  He is Hereditary High Seneschal of Ireland, and premier earl of Great Britain.  He succeeded to the honours and estates of his family in 1827, and is, like his predecessors, a Roman Catholic.  The ruins of the castle consist of two ivy-mantled towers, with fragments of the massive outer walls, standing on a commanding eminence, defended on one side by a fosse, and on the others by precipitous and rocky declivities descending to the Churnet. The Earl has recently removed a portion of the ancient walls on the brow of the precipice, and erected thereon a handsome castellated mansion, which has an elegant Catholic Chapel at the east end, and forms a fine object in the view from Alton Towers and other parts of the valley.  Within the castle precincts the Earl also erected, in 1840, an HOSPITAL for aged people, dedicated to St. John the Baptist.  Adjoining this building the Earl has also erected a School for about 60 girls; a Presbytery, for the residence of the priests; and a Guildhall.  The latter was built in 1847, and is used by the Mechanics’ Institution, and as a boys’ school, and has a large lecture room and a good library.  These modern buildings form three sides of a square, and are in the Tudor Gothic style.  A small neat Catholic chapel is connected with the Hospital and Girls’ school by a cloister.  The Boys’ school has about 80 pupils, and is under government inspection; but both schools are liberally supported by the Earl.  His chaplain, the Rev. Henry Winter, D.D., is president of the Mechanics’ Institution, which has frequent lectures.  Other improvements are in progress and contemplation in the castle precincts; and the range of buildings, when completed according to the plans of the architect, A. W. Pugin, Esq., will be highly ornamental.  In the cloister are two monumental brasses, in memory of the Talbot family; and in front of the Hospital is a stone cross, of exquisite workmanship.  The deadly nightshade grows wild among the castle ruins.  Messrs. Joseph Plant and Co., nurserymen, are now forming extensive Public Gardens on the rising ground at the west end of the village, commanding delightful views over the Churnet valley.  These gardens will be opened in 1852, and will be ornamented with neat arbours, grottoes, rock-work, etc.  In 1849, the Earl erected a Police Station on the site of the ancient Moot Hall, where the manor courts were formerly held.  The parish wake is on the Sunday after St. Peter’s day.  On April 20th, the shock of an earthquake threw down several chimneys in the village.  During a storm on August 31st, 1810, hailstones lay three inches thick upon the ground, and some of them measured five inches in circumference.  The PARISH CHURCH, (St. Peter,) was erected in the 12th century, by Bertram de Verdon, who gave it to the monks of Croxden.  In 1830 it was enlarged and partly rebuilt, at the cost of £1200; but the ancient tower still remains , and has five bells.  The interior has about 600 sittings, and an organ, purchased a few years ago, chiefly at the expense of Digby Murray, Esq.  The Vicarage, valued in K.B. at £5. 16s. 5d., and now at £300, is in the patronage of the Earl of Shrewsbury, and incumbency of the Rev. J. P. Jones, B.A., who has a good residence.  The vicarial tithes have been commuted for £250 per annum.  The rectorial tithes of Alton, Cotton, and Farley, belong chiefly to John Bill, Esq., and those of Denstone to C. Smith, Esq.  The National Schools were built in 1845, at the cost of £400, and are attended by about 90 children. The Independents and the Wesleyan and Primitive Methodists have small chapels here.  The Roman Catholics have a chapel in the castle precincts, as noticed above, and the Rev. Henry Winter, D.D., is the priest.  In 1721, Anthony Wall left three acres of land, for schooling poor children of Alton.  The poor parishioners have the following yearly doles, viz., 26 shillings left by Thomas Keys to provide six penny loaves every Sunday; 20 shillings left by William Gent, out of two fields called Eaton Flats; 10 shillings left by John Johnson, out of Gorsley Crofts; 10 shillings by Mary Shaw, out of Peakstones farm; 10 shillings by Mr. Brough, out of a farm at Quixill; and £5 for the poor of Alton and Farley, from £300 three per cent. consols, purchased with the gifts of Richard Harper and the Bill family.  The rest of the dividends (£4 a year,) belong to the curate of Cotton.  The owner of Cotton Hall estate distributes 20 shillings yearly among the poor of Cotton, as the interest of some small benefactions given by Richard Harper and the Gilbert family.  The poor of Farley have the interest of £30, left by Thomas Heaton in 1843.


ALTON TOWERS, the magnificent mansion of the Earl of Shrewsbury, stands in Farley township, on the bold northern acclivity of the Churnet Valley, in a large and beautiful park, about a mile from Alton.  The mansion is an extensive pile of Gothic masonry, which has been erected during the last 40 years by the late and present Earls, and is now one of the most magnificent residences in the kingdom.  The late Earl devoted much of his time and money to the improvement of his estates, and commenced the erection of this elegant mansion on the site of a farm-house called Alton Lodge.  The site of the present gardens was then a rabbit warren, and the adjacent hills presented a desolate appearance; but in a few years the surrounding commons were enclosed and planted, and the park and gardens laid out with great taste, and at considerable expense.  The late Earl excelled in the knowledge of landscape scenery; and after his death, in 1827, the present Earl added considerably to the mansion, extended and improved the gardens and plantations, and formed a noble collection of books, pictures, and works of art.  The hill on which the mansion stands was formerly called Bunbury, and was surrounded by entrenchments, and supposed to have been the site of a great battle, fought between the Anglo-Saxon Kings of Wessex and Mercia.  The principal part of the mansion faces the north-east, and is of considerable extent.  In front, and directly opposite the Wever Hills, is a fine sheet of water, brought from the adjoining hills; and on the other side are the offices, forming a fine castellated building.  The general style of the architecture is Gothic, rather irregular, being built at different times, and flanked with terraces.  The state rooms are in the west wing, and the elegant chapel is at the eastern end.  Various towers, turrets, and pinnacles rise in all parts, and the galleries are terminated by a large square tower.  The lofty Entrance Hall is richly decorated with escutcheons, carved in stone, charged with the arms of the family; and its walls are hung round with spears, halberts, etc.  Two immense doors open into the Armoury, and when thrown open, present a magnificent vista through the long Galleries, nearly 500 feet in length, and filled with valuable works of art.  The Armoury is nearly 120 feet long, and on the sides are ranged 24 figures of warriors, in complete armour, holding in their hands lances, swords and battle-axes.  In the centre is an equestrian statue of the “great Earl of Shrewsbury,” and also tables covered with models of cannon, mortars, etc., intermixed with weapons of all ages and countries.   Large Gothic Lanterns hang from the roof, and the lancet windows are filled with stained glass.  This is said to be the largest and most interesting private armoury in the kingdom.  At one end, an open screen of halberts and spears, surmounted by a portcullis, and forming folding gates, leads into the Picture Gallery, which is 150 feet long, and contains an extensive and valuable collection of paintings, statues, busts, and other works of art, including the whole of the pictures which belonged to Bonaparte’s mother, and were purchased some years ago at Rome.  This gallery leads into the Octagon, which is built in imitation of an ancient chapter house.  The ceiling is supported by a single column, and the windows are filled with painted glass.  It contains a fine collection of vases, urns, busts, etc. An adjoining vestibule contains busts of Cicero, Seneca, and Napoleon.  It communicates with the Conservatory, which is nearly 100 feet long, and contains many statues, etc., and looks into a a flower garden laid out in the Dutch style.  Here is the entrance to the Long Gallery and Drawing-room, which are magnificent apartments, splendidly decorated and furnished, as also are many of the other spacious apartments, especially the principal Dining-room, which has lately been remodelled and enlarged, from designs by Mr. Pugin, the celebrated architect.  To describe all the apartments, pictures, statues, curiosities, and works of art at Alton Towers would require a large volume.  The domestic Chapel is splendidly fitted up, and the altar-piece is adorned with gold crosses, precious stones, and figures of saints and angels; and the compartments are filled with pictures, and the windows with stained glass.  The Gardens extend down to the river Churnet, by a succession of terraces, communicating by flights of steps with an endless variety of walks, arbours, temples, fountains, conservatories, etc., decorated with ranges of statues, vases, rock work, etc.  In forming this earthly paradise out of a rugged rabbit warren, the late Earl employed many labourers from 1814 till his death in 1827, and since then both the mansion and grounds have been much improved by the present Earl of Shrewsbury, who, besides founding the splendid church at Cheadle, has been a munificent contributor towards the erection of several other Roman Catholic churches and chapels in England.  His other seats are Heythrop House, Oxfordshire, and Grafton Hall, Worcestershire.  Loudon calls the gardens at Alton Towers the Enchanted Valley, and says it is utterly impossible for words to describe them.  A building near the entrance is an imitation of the Choragic Monument of Lysicrates at Athens, and contains a fine bust of the late Earl, with the appropriate inscription, “He made the desert smile.”

Cotton is a long, but narrow township of 519 souls.  It includes the hamlets of Upper and Lower Cotton, 7 miles W. of Ashbourn, and many scattered houses, extending 2 to 4 miles N. of Alton, bounded on the east by the Wever hills, and on the south by Oakamoor.  There was a copper mine at Ribden, and there are foundations of a smelting furnace at “Blazing Star;” but the former was discontinued in 1827, and the latter many years before.  The extensive limekilns of Cauldon Lowe, are partly in this township.  At Lower Cotton is a Chapel of Ease, dedicated to St. John the Baptist, and built in 1795, by Thomas Gilbert, Esq., who endowed it with an annuity of £3; but the perpetual curacy has been augmented by Queen Anne’s Bounty and subscription to about £50 a year.  The Earl of Shrewsbury is patron, and the Rev. W. Hendrickson is incumbent both here and at Oakamoor.  In 1844, T. Gilbert, Esq., sold Cotton Hall to the Earl of Shrewsbury, who converted it into a Monastery for monks of the order of the Passion.  Connected with this monastic institution by a cloister is the handsome Chapel of St. Wilfrid, erected by the Earl in 1846, in the decorated style, with stained glass windows.

Denstone, or Denston, is a hamlet and township on the canal, adjoining to Rocester parish, 5 miles N. of Uttoxeter, and 2½ miles E.S.E. of Alton.  It has 231 inhabitants, and a Primitive Methodist Chapel.

Farley, on the north side of the river Churnet, is a township including Alton Towers, as already noticed, and the neat village of Farley, 4 miles E. of Cheadle.  It has 472 inhabitants, and had formerly two fairs.  Farley Hall is the handsome seat of John Bill, Esq.; and in the village, which occupies a pleasant eminence, is a commodious Inn, called the Shrewsbury Arms Hotel, where tourists find excellent accommodation.  The township adjoins Oakamoor, and includes a small part of that village, which is mostly in Cheadle parish.  It extends over 2221½ acres, and includes Alton Paper Mills, Woodhead Colliery, and many scattered houses.

ALTON DIRECTORY

The Post-office is at Joseph Waterall’s. Letters are despatched at 4. 30 afternoon, via Cheadle.

Barker Spence Daniel, engraver

Bradbury Daniel, bricklayer

Burton Joseph, beerhouse

Burton Hugh, cooper

Clarke Mrs Esther

Cope Miss

Collier George, organist

Coxon Samuel, corn miller

Denny John Bunn, master of the works, Alton Towers

Forrester John, nail maker

Harris Charles, joiner and builder

Jerome Mr

Prince Mr John

Jones Rev. John Pike, B.A. vicar

Kearns Thomas plumber, painter, etc.

Keeling Samuel, nail maker

Mather James, manager

Plant Joseph and Thomas, Public Gardens

Robinson Thomas, surgeon

Scott Joseph, police officer

Shaw William, nail maker

Smith Charles, maltster

Smith Charles, junior, land agent and surveyor

Starratt Rev. Moses, M.A., curate, (private academy)

Waterall Joseph, station and postmaster

Winter Rev. Henry, D.D. (Catholic)

Inns and taverns

Bull’s Head, Alderman B. Kidd

Red Lion, William Lees

Swan, Josiah Bowler

Talbot, Ann Weston

White Hart, George Collis

Blacksmiths

Bowler Thomas

Edwards John

Finney Daniel

Hainsworth George ( and beerhouse)

Butchers

Fallows George

Hammersley William

Holmes George

Mellor William

Farmers

Bowler William

Bridge Thomas

Cope Thomas

Copestake Samuel

Draycott John

Eaton Joseph

Eaton Thomas

Fallows John

Gaunt William

Hammersley William

Heaton John

Johnson Godfrey

Pattinson Samuel

Preston Isaac

Prince James

Ratcliffe George

Ratcliffe John

Slater Jeremiah

Tomlinson J.

Masons

Bailey John

Beard James

Schools

Brett James

Tundley Hannah

Catholic, George and Susan Chapman

National, William Weir, Ann Morgan, and Jane Wild

Shoemakers

Burton Hugh

Crumpton Thomas

Jeffries John

Powell John

Tundley Ralph (and Independent Minister)

Walker James

Wilson Samuel (and parish clerk)

Wilson John

Shopkeepers

Bowler Chatte

Byatt Thomas

Byatt Amy

Cornes William

Edwards John

Fielding John

Goodwin Sarah

Harrison George (and beerhouse)

Salt Samuel

Tailors

Collis George junior

Hainsworth James

Tipper Daniel

Udale James

Walter Ralph

Wheelwrights

Byatt Joseph

Byatt Thomas

Railway

Trains 5 times a day each way.  Buss [sic] on Tuesday and Thursday to Alton Towers

Carriers to Uttoxeter Wednesday

Burton James

Wilson Samuel

